The Changing Brain: Created to Heal

Hope for Vulnerable Children and Their Caregivers

CAFO | OVC research

Table of Contents

Introduction	4
Narrative	6
How Brains Develop and Change	10
How the Brain Responds to Stress	16
How Brains Heal from Trauma	22
Key Practices and Principles for	
Developmental Catch-Up	26
Caregiving Makes The Difference	26
Stability Promotes Growth	28
Play Is Children's Work	30
Nurture Changes Behavior	32
Learning Results From Practice	34
Caregiver Health Matters	36
Resilience Can Be Taught	38
Conclusion	40
References	44

Introduction

Much of the available research literature on orphans and vulnerable children (OVC) is overwhelmingly discouraging. Page after page describes increased risk of committing crimes, dropping out of school, joining welfare, experiencing substance abuse problems, or entering the homeless population¹. As individuals who care deeply for the well-being of children outside parental care, this reality can be heartbreaking and defeating. At times, it can even make the work of caring for vulnerable children seem hopeless.

Thankfully, an emerging field of research brings with it great hope. "Neuroplasticity" is a scientific term that simply means that the brain can change in reaction to the outside environment. For OVC, parents, caregivers, and the community around them are the outside environment, and they can mold the landscape — and function — of a child's brain, largely by helping them form new thoughts, habits, and experiences. Years of research have shown us that adversity can negatively impact even children's adult lives. Fortunately, we also see now, that the right interventions can actually reverse damage, and empower a move toward health.

As Christians, this should come as no surprise. Scripture repeatedly encourages us to "be transformed by the renewing of your mind" (Romans 12:2) and to "take every thought captive" (2 Corinthians 10:5). It's no wonder then that science — the discovery of God's creation — is now finding evidence that healing, growth, and transformation is possible, even at a neuroscientific



level. The brain is not fixed, carved for eternity by our genetics or experiences. Instead, we see now that repeated small changes in thought, behavior, and experiences can add up to a cumulative effect of a brain — and life — transformed.

A personal note to the reader:

This resource has been created for those who care for and about OVC, with the aim of helping them empower and equip children and youth toward success and well-being. It will be especially helpful for caregivers, social workers, teachers, leaders in OVCserving organizations, mentors, clinicians, and church leaders who seek to tailor their ministries in ways that benefit all children. Our goal is to provide actionable knowledge about how God created the brain to heal itself that will allow parents, caregivers, and practitioners to help children gain some of the developmental ground they have lost due to early childhood adversity.

This resource accompanies content from the 2018 OVC Applied Research & Best Practice Symposium, held in Dallas, TX in May 2018.

Narrative

TREES

This tree is located in Slope Point, New Zealand. Throughout Slope Point the wind is so strong that this tree's growth is dictated by it. Although the branches are misshapen, they are not necessarily damaged. Rather, they grew different than is typical. The tree is alive, but not functioning as it was designed. Due to the harsh outside environment, the tree cannot nourish itself to the full potential it had as a small seed under the earth. The culprit here is the wind. The tree cannot change the fact that it was planted and made to develop against this force. It is susceptible to the environment — much like orphaned and vulnerable children are susceptible to their environment and the influence of the adults in their lives.

When a child is experiencing toxic stress, trauma, or adversity, their brain functioning is not damaged, but rather may develop abnormally.

Like this tree, OVC are innocent to their surroundings and do not have the power to choose the environment they develop in. Research has found that the external environment (wind) and negative experiences often act as the direct cause of abnormal brain development.²

This is why our kids might have mental, emotional, behavioral, or physical health problems. They simply haven't reached their full potential yet.

Thanks to a concept called Neuroplasticity, the OVC we serve have the potential to "straighten the tree" of their own brain.

When a child is given a supportive environment from parents, caregivers, teachers, and their community, their brains have a chance to redirect towards normal development. This is the awesome power of Neuroplasticity.

Using the latest research, we now have the ability to tailor a supportive environment that helps "straighten the tree" of a child's brain. When we place those stilts around and fully embrace a child, there's nowhere to go but up.

Why it matters for vulnerable children

• Nature vs. Nurture: You cannot control a child's past, but you can nurture them to a healthier future.

• The brain does not finish maturing until around 25 years old. There is still time for caregivers to make a real difference in a child's life.

Why it matters to caregivers

• When children have abnormal development — and the associated behavioral concerns — it can be exhausting, confusing, and frustrating to care for them. This can help.

• Healthy, nurturing parent-child relationships have been linked to massive physical, emotional, and cognitive growth.

Why it makes a difference

• Caregivers in the field have the chance to improve a child's future no matter how long they stay within their care.

• Caregivers can teach children how to help themselves. This ultimately promotes long term success for the child. neu-ro-plas-tic-i-ty the ability of the brain to change both physically and functionally, in response to the world around it.

1 How Brains Develop and Change

The brain is one of the final frontiers of science, and is proving to be a critical key to unlocking healing for children who have experienced adversity.

The brain has billions of cells called neurons, which talk to each other at 268 mph.³ Each neuron has the power to bend, move, and connect to others as a result of both outside and inside signals. When a person has a thought, the neuron sends an electric signal which has a ripple effect with its neighbors. This ripple, depending on the type of message, can travel to the entire brain, including the spinal cord. This communication allows the brain to move muscles and store memories. Every action, interaction, and reaction triggers thousands of messages between neurons.

It is often said that "neurons that fire together wire together." When brain cells communicate often, the pathway between them strengthens like a well-traveled trail. We call these trails feedback loops. The stronger and wider the loop, the faster and easier the messages move. With enough repetition, a habit forms and responses become like instinct — or easily traveled loops. We create these wide, easily traveled loops when we practice behaviors like riding a bike or typing. While this is helpful with automatic movements, these trails of brain communication can also have negative impacts. For example, repetitive verbal abuse creates distinct pathways that can result in lifelong poor self-esteem. With enough negative experiences, these feelings become instinctual. On the contrary, messages of love and nurture can make their own well-traveled trails in the brains of OVC.

Thoughts, feelings, and experiences are not merely theoretical, but actually create physical matter in our brains.⁴ When neurons work together to send signals, they move around and mold into certain shapes and grooves.⁵ These shapes each have their own function that create a person's characteristics. If the communication between the neurons is damaged or altered, then any of those characteristics can grow abnormally. For example, children living in stressful environments might react quickly to fear signals. This means that what might be scary for them might not be for a child who has been nurtured in a healthy environment. The vulnerable child's brain has learned to communicate almost too much to the fear centers, ultimately resulting in an abnormally developed fear response.

Abnormal brain development has been linked to numerous conditions seen commonly in OVC, including those affecting cognitive, emotional, physical, and social well-being. The way the brain is organized and shaped dictates how it reacts to the environment. When the brain encounters new environments and experiences, neurons either develop or break off. This is a part of normal development and learning. Experiences shape neural pathways⁶ which drive behavior across the lifespan. These experiences include both acute influences such as early trauma, and intentional experiences through specific interventions designed to promote positive behavior and well-being.⁷

The most sensitive period for brain growth and plasticity is in the first few years of life. If stress — which can include abuse, neglect, or attachment disruption — threatens neurological development, damage could have a lifelong impact.⁸ However, this does not mean it is too late for older individuals — it simply requires a bit more effort. The principles of Neuroplasticity play a role in the entire human lifespan and have been proven to benefit much later in life, as well.⁹ Instead of being afraid of running out of time, we now understand that positively influencing brain growth may get harder as children get older, but it is not too late. In fact, a 2014 study refers to the "large body of evidence [that] shows that brain plasticity is strongly affected....throughout the entire life-span.¹⁰ " Regardless of age, history, and upbringing, there are evidence-based practices parents and caregivers can implement immediately that help "rewire" the way a child's brain functions.

Resources for Further Exploration

Key Concepts: Brain Architecture¹¹ (Harvard Center on the Developing Child)

Neuroplasticity¹² (Sentis)

<u>Cognitive Recovery in Socially Deprived Young Children:</u> The Bucharest Early Intervention Project¹³ (Nelson, et al.)

TEDx Talk: After Watching This, Your Brain Will Not Be the Same¹⁴ (Boyd)

Experiences Build Brain Architecture¹⁵ (Harvard Center on the Developing Child)



"Thoughts are real, physical things that occupy mental real estate. Moment by moment, every day, you are changing the structure of your brain through your thinking. When we hope, it is an activity of the mind that changes the structure of our brain in a positive and normal direction."¹⁶

2 How the Brain Responds to Stress

Neuroplasticity is the ability for the brain to change and adapt as a result of environmental input. This is good news in the sense that we can positively influence the brain's growth and development, even after a period of trauma or adversity. However, it also means that negative environmental factors influence brain development, which is often the case with OVC. Excessive stress can create a ripple effect of lifelong difficulties for OVC. This has significant effects on brain development, especially for younger children.

Stress Response

Stress is a natural, normal, and even necessary condition of life. Stress is needed for appropriate development. However, chronic, intense stress can be harmful, especially to developing brains. Under stress, the body undergoes a series of changes based on a complex but nearly instantaneous response. When the senses perceive a threat, the body and brain are alerted. The auto response portions of the brain respond by giving the body a burst of energy, pumping blood to the limbs, speeding up breathing, and increasing heart rate. This is when the fight-flight-or-freeze response takes place. After the perceived threat passes, the body moves back to its former state of "rest and digest."¹⁷

When Stress Becomes Toxic

According to the Harvard Center on the Developing Child¹⁸, a child's stress response can be positive, tolerable, or toxic.¹⁹

• Positive stress response is critical to healthy development, and is characterized by temporary elevations in heart rate and hormone release. Positive stress may result from the first day of school or riding a bicycle for the first time.

• Tolerable stress response may result from a more severe challenge or loss, such as the death of a loved one or car accident. The stress response is temporary and is cushioned by healthy, nurturing adult relationships that help the child to cope.

• Toxic stress develops when a child experiences intense, frequent, and/or prolonged adversity without the love, nurture, and support of a healthy, long-term care-giving relationship. Causes of toxic stress can vary from extreme poverty and discrimination to illness and abuse.

Whether a stress response becomes toxic has less to do with the input itself and more to do with the severity, timing, or duration of the response."²⁰ This explains why multiple children can experience the same stressors, with one having very negative effects and the others seemingly less so. Over time, a child's exposure to toxic stress can cause weakened brain architecture²¹²² and developmental delays.

Other potential consequences include:

- Mental and behavioral health issues.^{23 24}
- Difficulties with long-term adaptation and adjustment.^{25 26}
- Inability to move from stress response to a healthy level of functioning.^{27 28}
- Increased vulnerability to substance dependence²⁹, addiction³⁰, and other health-threatening behaviors.
- Adverse intellectual and educational outcomes.³¹
- Poor immune function.³²

Some experts suggest the effects of toxic stress may even affect genetics, and be passed onto future generations.³³

Toxic Stress and OVC

The most important influence on the impact of adversity is a protective, nurturing caregiver relationship. Without this relationship, toxic stress can put a child's stress response system in constant distress mode, impacting growth, learning, behavior, and relationships. Therefore, orphans and children outside parental care are especially susceptible to the effects of toxic stress:

• Children placed shortly after birth into low-nurture group care show significantly decreased brain activity compared to children who were never institutionalized.³⁴

• Young children in residential care without a stable, nurturing caregiver are at risk of attachment disorder, developmental delays, and abnormal brain development.^{35 36 37}

• Even if a child was adopted into a loving family at birth, research suggests that in utero chronic stress can have long-term consequences.³⁸

• For foster children, poor long-term outcomes increase with the number of placement changes experienced.³⁹

• Negative family experiences negatively affect long-term adaptation and adjustment.⁴⁰

• Early stressors such as maternal separation result in lasting effects on a child's ability to respond to normal stress in a healthy way.^{41 42 43 44}

• When the brain goes into crisis mode, especially during critical developmental periods, it does everything it can to survive its hostile environment and in doing so, long-term effects like emotional and memory problems develop well past the maltreatment period.⁴⁵

• A study of foster children aged 3–6 suggested that the more neglect they experience, the more severe their risk is for developmental delays.⁴⁶

Although the brain's plasticity causes it to be shaped by stressful environmental factors that can create harmful outcomes, it also creates opportunities to undo damage. With healthy, nurturing relationships and input, new connections and pathways can be made, even reversing previous harm.⁴⁷

Resources for Further Exploration

<u>Key Concepts: Toxic Stress</u>⁴⁸ (Harvard Center on the Developing Child) <u>Consequences of Toxic Stress</u>⁴⁹ (Gunnar) <u>The Impact of Developmental Timing for Stress and Recovery</u>⁵⁰ (Gee & Casey) <u>Toxic Stress Derails Healthy Development</u>⁵¹ (Harvard Center on the Developing Child) <u>Take the ACE Quiz – And Learn What It Does and Doesn't Mean</u>⁵² (NPR) Years of research have shown us that trauma and stress can negatively impact how the brain develops. Fortunately, we also now see that the right interventions can actually reverse damage and move children toward health.

3 How Brains Heal from Trauma

Caring for children who have experienced early adversity can be messy work. When children are separated from parents, there is at least one tremendous grief in their life — the loss of a mother or father. Even in optimal settings — when a loving, engaged, nurturing parent remains — the loss of a parent is traumatic. For children without the stability and security of a caregiving relationship, the loss of a parent is a devastating, isolating road to walk. And for many of them, this loss is only one of the many hardships they have experienced.

The research focused on this is overwhelmingly discouraging. Time and again, research suggests poorer outcomes for children outside biological parental care. These effects are vast and varied, and many are likely related to maladaptive brain development as a result of toxic stress. However, not all children react in the same way to stress and there are some clear factors that can help children to both withstand and recover from early adversity.

Developmental Catch-Up

Developmental catch-up happens when children gain some of the developmental ground they lost due to early childhood adversity. Numerous studies show that children who have come from hard places can experience growth when given the right environmental inputs: • An analysis of 270 studies involving more than 230,000 children suggested that children moving from group care to family care could facilitate massive catch-up to their peers, including physical growth, attachment security, cognitive development and school achievement, self-esteem, and behavior. Adoptions before 12 months of age were linked to more complete catch-up. However, even at older ages, some significant catch-up was present.⁵³

 \bullet Compared to children who remained in group care, children who entered family care scored significantly higher on IQ tests and performed better academically. ^{54} 55 56

 \bullet When children entered residential care from less healthy circumstances, weight, height, and head circumference have been shown to improve. $^{\rm 57}$

 \bullet When children move from institutional care to family care, they often experience massive physical growth. ^{58} 59 60

 $\bullet\,$ Impressive gains in attachment functioning are seen in children who move to family care. $^{\rm 61\,62\,63\,64}$

How Do Brains Recover?

Environment impacts brain development, and it opens the door to healing. Repeatedly having the same thoughts or experiences causes the brain cells underlying them to communicate. When these cells communicate often, the pathway between them strengthens, like a well-traveled trail. The more wellworn the pathway is, the easier it is to travel. The more times a child practices trusting a caregiver, positive self-talk, or affect regulation, the easier it will be. Likewise, the fewer times a child practices — even subconsciously — fearful responses, negative self-talk, or outbursts, the easier it will be to avoid them. Our goal is to increase the thoughts and behaviors that are healthy and functional, and decrease those that are not. Changing these pathways affects both short — and long-term outcomes in a child's development.

Brain pathways can be influenced by both the behavior of a child and of his or her parent or caregiver. The behavior of adults has the ability to both reverse and improve the effects of deprivation. Ultimately, genes and environments work together to construct brain architecture.⁶⁵ The ability for the brain to change does not mean that all children will catch up in every area of development, even if exposed to the "right" inputs. It is not a magical cure. Like a healed wound leaves a scar, the architecture of the brain will still hold some evidence of early adversity.

However, with knowledge and repeated action over time, it is likely we may see children begin to recover from early childhood trauma.

Resources for Further Exploration:

1. <u>Caregiving in the Aftermath of Early Adversity: A Neuroscience-</u> <u>Informed Approach</u>⁶⁶ (Peake)

2. Trust-Based Relational Intervention (TBRI): A Systematic

<u>Approach to Complex Developmental Trauma</u>⁶⁷ (Purvis, Cross, Dansereau, and Parris)

3. Helping Traumatized Children: A Brief Overview for

<u>Caregivers</u>⁶⁸ (Child Trauma Academy)

4. What Neuroscience and Social Science Tell Us About the Effect of Care Environments on Children⁶⁹ (Nelson and Whetten)

5. The Role of Parenting and Family Factors in the Developmental

Catch-Up for Children Adopted Internationally⁷⁰ (Katzenstein)

Key Practices and Principles for Developmental Catch-Up

What does this look like in real life? There are countless practices that will likely help children learn to regulate, relate, and recover from the effects of early childhood adversity. As an emerging field of research, there is still much to discover about the mechanisms underlying developmental catch-up how to promote them. Already, science suggests the following practices to help children's brains recover from the impact of early trauma. All of them center around limiting a child's stress response, and providing opportunities for learning, connection, and building confidence in their growing competence.

Caregiving Makes The Difference

A stable caregiving relationship can be the deciding factor in whether stress is tolerable or toxic. Research suggests the very presence of a trusted caregiver has the power to decrease stress hormones, thus allowing for normal brain development to occur. The single most important factor in whether a child will overcome adversity is a healthy relationship with a secure, nurturing parent or caregiver.

• Ensure each child has one caregiver who is uniquely committed to them. Children need one or two primary caregivers who they know are invested in their lives and are willing to go out of their way to protect, defend, advocate for, and nurture them. A rotating group of caregivers cannot accomplish this kind of connection and commitment. Ensure each child has a caregiver who will do anything for them. • Empower the parent or primary caregiver — not programs, support staff, or external visitors — to meet the physical and emotional needs of the child. Start at the root of a child's relationship with others — parents and/or caregivers are their family. A child's attachment with a parent or caregiver is developed by a caregiver consistently meeting the child's needs over time, no matter the age. The caregiver relationship plays a critical role in regulating stress hormone production, which enables children to cope effectively with stress as they grow up.

• Create opportunities for parents and primary caregivers to build positive memories with children. Relationship is built not only through a caregiver meeting a child's needs, but also through positive experiences that build a catalogue of memories together. In order to promote brain recovery from trauma through a stable caregiver relationship, interaction needs to go beyond behavior management.

Questions for Consideration:

 What practical ways do we empower parents and primary caregivers to be the hero in their children's lives?
Do we teach parents and primary caregivers about the importance of their role? How could we do this?
What is one practice, event, or opportunity we could provide or facilitate that would allow parents and primary caregivers of vulnerable children to create positive memories together?

Resources for Further Exploration:

 <u>The Connected Child</u>⁷¹ (Purvis, Sunshine, and Cross)
<u>The Emanuel Miller Memorial Lecture 2006: adoption as</u> intervention. Meta-analytic evidence for massive catch-up and plasticity in physical, socio-emotional, and cognitive development.⁷² (van IJzendoorn & Juffer)
<u>Attachment in the Context of Severe Deprivation: Risk and</u> Recovery⁷³ (Zeanah)

Stability Promotes Growth

For children who have experienced early childhood trauma, the unexpected or urgent can trigger an unhealthy stress response (which, over time, can prevent appropriate brain development and lead to developmental and behavioral concerns). Helping children know what to expect can minimize unnecessary stress hormone production.

• Develop consistent structure and routines. Use visual and written routines to help children know what to expect throughout their day. Offer reminders in advance of transitions to minimize unwelcome surprises. Use timers and calendars to help children know what is coming.

• Invite the child into the process of developing personal and families schedules. Offering children a voice in the process helps them to mentally plan for what is coming, develop awareness of time, and practice decision making.

• Create rituals and shared meaning. Activities like reading together every night, eating meals together every day, and setting routines like a regular 8 p.m. bedtime can help children develop the ability to regulate their emotions and be ready to learn,

Questions for Consideration:

1. How can you give your child choices and empower them to develop new routines and shared meaning?

2. What part of the day tends to highlight the shortcomings of the children in your care? What simple structures might be added to that part of the day?

3. How can we help parents and primary caregivers see the connection between consistency and a sense of felt safety?

Resources for Further Exploration:

 Helping Children to Cope with Change, Stress and Anxiety: A <u>Photocopiable Activities Book</u>⁷⁴ (Plummer and Harper)
<u>Helping Children Cope With Change</u>⁷⁵ (The British Association for Early Childhood Education)

3. <u>Therapeutic Parenting</u>⁷⁶ (Attachment and Trauma Network, Inc.

Play Is Children's Work

Play offers a low-risk, low-stress environment in which children can encounter and overcome challenges. This gives them confidence in their ability to face new or challenging situations, without triggering an excessive stress response. With an increasing emphasis on academics and technology, it is important to remember that free play is the training ground for appropriate developmental progress in young children. For children who were focused on surviving extreme stress when they should have been experiencing play-rich environments, play may not come naturally, but can develop into a learned skill.

• Provide opportunities for different types of play. Unstructured and structured, independent or social, with peers or with adults — a variety of play settings promotes different skills and developmental assets.

• Teach lessons and skills through games and activities. Children often learn best using hands-on or applied methods. Structured, guided play has been shown to improve executive functioning, which includes memory and decision-making. Development of social skills, like impulse control and conflict resolution, also occurs naturally through play.

• Make child-parent play a priority. Child-parent play can build the relationship by offering opportunities for serve-and-return, as well as creating positive memories. Bonding with a child, especially after adversity, is necessary to maintain your connection during times of stress.

• Release stress through physical movement. Physical play and exercise release stress from the body and help to regulate hormones involved in the stress response. Ensure children have time and space for plenty of physical activity.

Questions for Consideration:

 What are some practical venues for unstructured play for children living in difficult environments?
How do we teach play when it doesn't come naturally?
How can we encourage physical movement, when some children are drawn primarily to more sedentary types of play?

Resources for Further Exploration:

 <u>The Case of Brain Science and Guided Play: A Developing</u> <u>Story</u>⁷⁷ (National Association for the Education of Young Children)
<u>It's Never "Just Play!</u>" ⁷⁸ (Gillespie)

3. The Neurobiological Power of Play⁷⁹ (Gaskill and Perry)

Nurture Changes Behavior

Science has broken down the mechanisms behind nurture and attachment, and teaching these to parents and caregivers can empower them to improve their children's brain development. It is well established in the science community that parental nurture reduces high cortisol levels in infants & young children.⁸⁰ This allows developing brain architecture to proceed as intended.

• Respond to a child's needs and signals. "Serve and return" is the term for the back-and-forth interaction that occurs between children and responsive, nurturing caregivers. This interaction includes sharing a child's focus, encouraging, consoling, and responding to requests for basic needs like food, rest, and affection.

• Connect before correcting. For children who have experienced trauma, discipline can carry with it additional weight. Inappropriate behavior is typically tied to deeper emotions. Using positive discipline in the context of a responsive, empathetic relationship can teach children how to engage appropriately with the world around them without instilling fear or harming the parent-child attachment. [Re-framing behavior as a form of communication, and allowing the child to re-try the interaction or behavior that went poorly is an example.]

• Follow the child's lead. When a parent follows the child's lead in play or conversation, it produces affirmation, agency, and affect regulation. Following the lead could look like reflecting body language, playing peekaboo, or responding to conversation.

• Tailor the type of nurture to a child's age and stage. A toddler may connect best through playing on the floor together, but a teenager may feel connection through listening or shared hobbies. Remember that, for children who have experienced early childhood adversity, maturity may not match chronological age. Aim to meet the child where they are at developmentally.

Questions for Consideration:

1. What are some easy ways to show interest in a child when we are uninterested in their hobbies?

2. What are some inexpensive ideas for developing mutual interests in your area?

3. Each child receives correction differently. How can a caregiver gain quick insight into a child's needs with regard to correction?

Resources for Further Exploration:

1. <u>Key Concepts: Serve and Return⁸¹</u> (Harvard Center on the Developing Child)

2. Letting Children Take the Lead⁸² (Dozier)

3. <u>Positive Discipline: A Guide for Parents</u>⁸³ (University of Minnesota Extension)

Learning Results From Practice

The interactions of genes and experience shape the developing brain. Although genes provide the blueprint for the formation of brain circuits, these circuits are reinforced by repeated use.⁸⁴

• Recognize that thoughts and experiences create actual matter in the brain. Structural and functional changes have been observed as a result of training and experiences. Teach children that what they think and how they act has long-term impact on their future.

• Repeat, repeat, repeat. Repeatedly engaging in the same thoughts and behavior make the neural pathways stronger and more efficient. Practicing good habits and positive self-talk, along with affect regulation, will make it possible for children to react in a calm and proactive manner when encountering stress.

• Model desired behaviors and practices. Tremendous learning results from modeling; truly, more is caught than taught with children. Show children examples of healthy choices and practices through real-life modeling and role playing. Caregivers can make the first step towards this by looking at their own behaviors to model.

• Surround children with the truth of Scripture. Seeing and memorizing passages that remind them of their identity and worth in Christ (Psalm 139: 13-14, Ephesians 2:10, Colossians 3:12) and of Hope for the future (Jeremiah 29:11, Romans 15:13, Isaiah 40:31) are invaluable for the renewing of the mind. • Practice new skills in low-stress environments. Children need to be taught skills like emotional regulation or self-control and given the opportunity to practice them with support before being able to perform it on their own.⁸⁵ Do not expect children with a history of trauma to improve their behavior based purely on verbal instruction. Practice prior to performance sets a child up for success when they are next exposed to a high stress event.

Questions for Consideration:

 What are the typical kinds of self-talk one hears from children? How can that self-talk be redirected in positive ways?
What are some simple activities that can be introduced for the purpose of practicing positive reactions to stress?
The ultimate source of strength and confidence comes from the Word of God. How can scripture be used to positively affect habits of the mind?

Resources for Further Exploration:

 How Can We Help Kids With Self-Regulation?⁸⁶ (Child Mind Institute)
Anxiety in Children and NLP: Can Neuro-Linguistic Programming Help Your Child Overcome Anxiety?⁸⁷ (Children's Anxiety Institute)
Social Influences on Neuroplasticity: Stress and Interventions to Promote Well-Being⁸⁸ (Richard and McEwen)

Caregiver Health Matters

A child will reflect a caregiver's reaction to stress. Children experiencing stress without the support and nurture of an engaged caregiver are at-risk of compromised brain development. How we support the health of parents and caregivers is intimately tied to child well-being.

• Educate parents and caregivers on good self-care. Especially in settings in which chronic stressors like limited material resources, serious illness, or corruption are common, self-care may not be common knowledge. However, caring well for a child who has experienced trauma requires good boundaries, support, and awareness.

• Train caregivers on the role their stress plays in their child's development. Caregivers may not be aware of the impact of their responses on their children. Train parents on how to modify their actions and reactions to limit stress responses in their children. Research has shown that mindfulness training in parents improves positive behavior in children.⁸⁹

• Assess caregiver health and capacity. When interacting with vulnerable children and families, be aware of signs that a caregiver may be in need of mental health support, and know where to connect them for these services.

Questions for Consideration:

1. What are we doing currently to support parent and caregiver health?

2. What are some red flags for caregivers to recognize that they are beyond their stress limit and need to take care?

3. What are some quick immediate steps caregivers can take when they realize they have reached their limit?

Resources for Further Exploration:

 Building Adult Capabilities to Improve Child Outcomes: A <u>Theory of Change</u>⁹⁰ (Harvard Center on the Developing Child)
Self-Care: Barriers and Basics for Foster/Adoptive Parents⁹¹ (North American Council on Adoptable Children)
Secondary Trauma and Foster Parents: Understanding its Impact and Taking Steps to Protect Them⁹² (Conrad)

Resilience Can Be Taught

Some children experience trauma and quickly develop harmful feedback loops in their brains. Some children experience trauma, and while they certainly feel hurt, they do not exhibit the same level of devastation as others. Resilience — or the ability to overcome hardship — is not a fixed asset, but can be developed with practice over time. Resilience is like the protective gear a football player puts on before the game. Not only does the gear prevent injury when tackled, it protects old wounds and gives them space to heal. Before walking out into the world where getting tackled is no game, children can protect their brains and their health with resilience. Resilience happens when the strengths or protective factors (such as a loving family or healthy coping skills) outweigh the challenges a child encounters.

• Help children develop a growth mindset. Both academically and socially, children have been shown to develop resilience when they are taught that abilities are something they can acquire. A sense of empowerment and perceived control is linked to positive outcomes despite adversity.

• Teach children to learn to cope with manageable stress. Withstanding and overcoming minor to moderate stress — such as taking a test or talking through conflict with a friend — builds awareness of how to work through tense situations and confidence at successfully encountering challenges. This can be done by breaking stress management down into actionable, buildable steps that a child can absorb and complete one step at a time. • Ensure children hear and see evidence of Christ's love for them. Spiritual teaching and support, along with freedom to question and seek, are protective factors linked to improved wellbeing. Faith can offer children a sense of identity and belonging, and can shift thinking to a future focus, bringing about hope.

Questions for Consideration

1. What skills do your children need to outweigh their next big challenge?

2. In what ways does the language we use encourage resilience and growth instead of stagnation? (ie "I love how hard you work on your art!" vs. "You are the best painter in the world!")

3. What are some practical ways to encourage caregivers and OVC to focus on growth instead of shortcomings?

Resources for Further Exploration

1. <u>Key Concepts: Resilience</u>⁹³ (Harvard Center on the Developing Child)

2. <u>The 7 Cs: The Essential Building Blocks of Resilience</u>⁹⁴ (Foster Resilience)

3. <u>Mindsets That Promote Resilience: When Students Believe</u> <u>that Personal Characteristics Can Be Developed.</u>⁹⁵ (Yeager and Dweck)

Conclusion

Research confirms that early childhood stress is harmful to developing brains. Life experience reinforces that loving a child who has experienced extreme adversity can be exhausting, heartbreaking, and discouraging. However, that does not have to be the end of the story.

God created our brains to adapt and respond and grow as a result of input, whether positive or negative. Thankfully, neuroplasticity – the same mechanism that allows our brains to grow abnormally – also makes it possible for them to heal in magnificent, seemingly impossible ways.

It is not too late. There is hope.

Neuroplasticity will not cure every effect of trauma, but it can move children and youth toward fulfilling their potential. It can allow parents and caregivers to influence their children's futures and help them to overcome some of the adversity they wish they had never experienced.

It can allow youth from hard places to have a say in their future, to overcome their past history. It consists the small, daily inputs of truth and health and safety that breathe life into children who come from hard places. This is the kind of redemption, healing, and growth that could only come from the One who loves these children more than we do, the Father to the fatherless.



He heals the brokenhearted, and binds up their wounds. Psalm 147:3

References

1 Doyle, J. J. J. (2013). Causal effects of foster care: An instrumental-variables approach. Children and Youth Services Review, 35(7), 1143-1151. doi:10.1016/j.childyouth.2011.03.014

2 National Scientific Council on the Developing Child. (2014). Excessive stress disrupts the architecture of the developing brain: Working paper #3. Retreived from http://developingchild. harvard.edu/resources/reports_and_working_papers/

3 Stanford University-Tech Museum of Innovation, (2007) What is your reaction time? [Virtual lab exhibit]. Retreived from http://virtuallabs.stanford.edu/tech/images/ReactionTime.SU-Tech.pdf

4 Fuchs, E. & Flügge, G. (2014). Adult neuroplasticity: More than 40 years of research. Neural Plasticity Volume 2014, 1-10, doi:10.1155/2014/541870

5 Ascoli, G. A. (2015). Trees of the Brain, Roots of the Mind Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press.

6 Kolb, B., & Gibb, R. (2011). Brain plasticity and behaviour in the developing brain. Journal of the Canadian Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 20(4), 265–276.

7 Davidson, R. J., & McEwen, B. S. (2012). Social influences on neuroplasticity: Stress and interventions to promote well-being. Nature Neuroscience ,15, 689-695. doi:10.1038/nn.3093

8 Balbernie, R. (2001). Circuits and circumstances: The neurobiological consequences of early relationship experiences and how they shape later behaviour. Journal of Child Psychotherapy, 27(3), 237-255. doi: 10.1080/00754170110087531

9 Doidge, N. (2017). The brain that changes itself: Stories of personal triumph from the frontiers of brain science. Strawberry Hills, NSW: ReadHowYouWant.

10 Sale, A., Berardi, N., & Maffei, L. (2014). Environment and brain plasticity: Towards an endogenous pharmacotherapy. Physiological Reviews,94(1), 189-234. doi:10.1152/ physrev.00036.2012

11 Harvard Center on the Developing Child. (n.d.) Brain Architecture. Retrieved from https:// developingchild.harvard.edu/science/key-concepts/brain-architecture/

12 Sentis. (2012). Neuroplasticity [video file]. Retrieved from http://www.apastyle.org/learn/ quick-guide-on-references.aspx 13 Nelson, C. A., Zeanah, C. H., Fox, N. A., Marshall, P. J., Smyke, A. T., & Guthrie, D. (2007). Cognitive recovery in socially deprived young children: The Bucharest early intervention project. Science, 318(5858), 1937-1940. doi:10.1126/science.1143921

14 T. (2015, December 15). Retrieved from https://www.youtube.com/ watch?v=LNHBMFCzznE

15 Harvard Center on the Developing Child. (2017). Experiences build brain architecture. Retrieved from https://developingchild.harvard.edu/resources/experiences-build-brain-architecture-arabic-subtitles/

16 Leaf, C. (2015). Switch on your brain: the key to peak happiness, thinking, and health. Grand Rapids, MI: Baker Books.

17 Harvard Health Publishing. (2011). Understanding the stress response: Chronic activation of this survival mechanism impairs health. Retrieved from https://www.health.harvard.edu/staying-healthy/understanding-the-stress-response.

18 Harvard Center on the Developing Child. (2017) Toxic Stress. Retrieved from https:// developingchild.harvard.edu/science/key-concepts/toxic-stress

19 National Scientific Council on the Developing Child. (2014). Excessive stress disrupts the architecture of the developing brain: Working paper #3. Retreived from http://developingchild. harvard.edu/resources/reports_and_working_papers/

20 Miller, G. E., Chen, E., & Zhou, E. S. (2007). If it goes up, must it come down? Chronic stress and the hypothalamic – pituitary – adrenocortical axis in humans. Psychological Bulletin, 133, 25–45.

21 Harvard Center on the Developing Child.. (2017) Toxic Stress. Retrieved from https:// developingchild.harvard.edu/science/key-concepts/toxic-stress/

22 Harvard Center on the Developing Child. (2017). Stress derails healthy development. Retrieved from https://developingchild.harvard.edu/resources/toxic-stress-derails-healthydevelopment-arabic-subtitles/

23 Heim, C., Plotsky, P. M., & Nemeroff, C. B. (2004). Importance of studying the contributions of early adverse experience to neurobiological findings in depression. Neuropsychopharmacology, 29(4), 641-648. doi:10.1038/sj.npp.1300397

24 Heim, C., Plotsky, P. M., & Nemeroff, C. B. (2004). Importance of studying the contributions of early adverse experience to neurobiological findings in depression. Neuropsychopharmacology, 29(4), 641-648. doi:10.1038/sj.npp.1300397

25 Ha, Thao., Granger A., Douglas. (2016). Family relations, stress, and vulnerability: Biobehavioral implications for prevention and practice. Interdisciplinary Journal of Applied Family Studies, 65, 9-23.

26 Cummings, E. M., El-Sheikh, M., Kouros, C. D., & Keller, P. S. (2007). Children's skin conductance reactivity as a mechanism of risk in the context of parental depressive symptoms. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, 48, 436–445.

27 Ha, Thao., Granger A., Douglas. (2016). Family Relations, Stress, and Vulnerability: Biobehavioral Implications for Prevention and Practice. Interdisciplinary Journal of Applied Family Studies, 65, 9-23.

28 McEwen, B. S. (2000). The neurobiology of stress: From serendipity to clinical relevance. Brain Research, 886, 172 – 189.

29 Mcfarlane, A., Clark, C. R., Bryant, R. A., Williams, L. M., Niaura, R., Paul, R. H.,... Gordon, E. (2005). The impact of early life stress on psychophysiological, personality and behavioral measures in 740 non-clinical subjects. Journal of Integrative Neuroscience,04(01), 27-40. doi:10.1142/s0219635205000689

30 Scherrer, J. F., Xian, H., Kapp, J. M. K., Waterman, B., Shah, K. R., Volberg, R., & Eisen, S. A. (2007). Association between exposure to childhood and lifetime traumatic events and lifetime pathological gambling in a twin cohort. The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease, 195(1), 72-78. doi:10.1097/01.nmd.0000252384.20382.e9

31 Bellis, M. D. (2005). The Psychobiology of Neglect. Child Maltreatment, 10(2), 150-172. doi:10.1177/1077559505275116

32 Bierhaus A. et al. A mechanism converting psychosocial stress into mononuclear cell activation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2003;100(4):1920–1925pmid:12578963

33 Roth, T. L., Lubin, F. D., Funk, A. J., & Sweatt, J. D. (2009). Lasting epigenetic influence of early-life adversity on the BDNF gene. Biological Psychiatry, 65(9), 760–769. http://doi. org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2008.11.028

34 Center on the Developing Child (2007). The impact of early adversity on child development (InBrief). Retrieved from www.developingchild.harvard.edu.

35 Browne, K. (2005). A European survey of the number and characteristics of children less than three years old in residential care at risk of harm. Adoption & Fostering, 29(4), 23-33.

36 Kreppner, J., O'Connor, T., Rutter, M., & English and Romanian Adoptees Study Team. (2001). Can inattention/overactivity be an institutional deprivation syndrome? Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology, 29(6), 513-528. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11761285.

37 Gunnar, M. R., & Dulmen, M. H. (2007). Behavior problems in postinstitutionalized internationally adopted children. Development and Psychopathology,19(01). doi:10.1017/s0954579407070071

38 Oberlander, T. F., Weinberg, J., Papsdorf, M., Grunau, R., Misri, S., & Devlin, A. M. (2008). Prenatal exposure to maternal depression, neonatal methylation of human glucocorticoid receptor gene (NR3C1) and infant cortisol stress responses. Epigenetics, 3(2), 97-106. doi:10.4161/epi.3.2.6034

39 Fisher, P. A., Burraston, B., & Pears, K. (2005). The early intervention foster care program: Permanent placement outcomes from a randomized trial. Child Maltreatment, 10(1), 61-71. doi:10.1177/1077559504271561

40 Ha, T. and Granger, D. A. (2016). Family relations, stress, and vulnerability: Biobehavioral implications for prevention and practice. Family Relations, 65: 9–23. doi:10.1111/fare.12173

41 Bremmne, J., & Vermetten, E. (2001). Stress and development: behavioral and biological consequences. Developmental Psychopathology ,13(3), 473-489.

42 Dobrova-Krol, N. A., van IJzendoorn, M. H., Bakermans-Kranenburg, M. J., Cyr, C., & Juffer, F. (2008). Physical growth delays and stress dysregulation in stunted and non-stunted Ukrainian institution-reared children. Infant Behavior and Development, 31(3), 539-553. doi:10.1016/j.infbeh.2008.04.001

43 Dozier, M., Manni, M., Gordon, M. K., Peloso, E., Gunnar, M. R., Stovall-McClough, K. C., . . . Levine, S. (2006). Foster children's diurnal production of cortisol: An exploratory study. Child maltreatment, 11(2), 189-197. doi:10.1177/1077559505285779

44 Gunnar, M. R., Morison, S. J., Chisholm, K., & Schuder, M. (2001). Salivary cortisol levels in children adopted from Romanian orphanages. Development and Psychopathology,13(3), 611-628. doi:10.1017/s095457940100311x

45 Teicher, M. H. & Samson, J. A. (2016). Annual research review: Enduring neurobiological effects of childhood abuse and neglect. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry 7: 241–266. doi:10.1111/jcpp.12507

46 Fisher, P. A., & Pears, K. (2005). Developmental, cognitive, and neuropsychological functioning in preschool-aged foster children: Associations with prior maltreatment and placement history. Journal of Developmental and Behavioral Pediatrics, 26(2), 212-222. Retrieved from https://insights.ovid.com/pubmed?pmid=15827462.

47 Gunnar, M. (2015). The consequences of toxic stress. Presented at the Christian Alliance for Orphans OVC Applied Research & Best Practice Symposium, Chicago, IL. Retreived from https://cafo.org/resource/consequences-toxic-stress/

48 Harvard University. (2017). Toxic stress. Retrieved from https://developingchild.harvard. edu/science/key-concepts/toxic-stress/

49 Gunnar, M. (2015). The consequences of toxic stress. Presented at the Christian Alliance for Orphans OVC Applied Research & Best Practice Symposium, Chicago, IL. Retreived from https://cafo.org/resource/consequences-toxic-stress/

50 Gee, D. G., & Casey, B. (2015). The impact of developmental timing for stress and recovery. Neurobiology of Stress, 1, 184-194. doi:10.1016/j.ynstr.2015.02.001

51 Harvard Center on the Developing Child. (2017). Stress derails healthy development. Retrieved from https://developingchild.harvard.edu/resources/toxic-stress-derails-healthy-development-arabic-subtitles/

52 Starecheski, L. (2015, March 02). Take the ACE Quiz - And Learn What It Does And Doesn't Mean. Retrieved March 29, 2018, from https://www.npr.org/sections/health-shots/2015/03/02/387007941/take-the-ace-quiz-and-learn-what-it-does-and-doesnt-mean

53 van IJzendoorn, M. H., & Juffer, F. (2006). The Emanuel Miller Memorial Lecture 2006: Adoption as intervention. Meta-analytic evidence for massive catch-up and plasticity in physical, socio-emotional, and cognitive development. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, 47(12), 1228-1245. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7610.2006.01675.x

54 van IJzendoorn, M. H., & Juffer, F. (2005). Adoption Is a Successful Natural Intervention Enhancing Adopted Children's IQ and School Performance. Current Directions in Psychological Science, 14(6), 326-330. doi:10.1111/j.0963-7214.2005.00391.x 55 Fox, N. A., Almas, A. N., Degnan, K. A., Nelson, C. A., & Zeanah, C. H. (2011). The effects of severe psychosocial deprivation and foster care intervention on cognitive development at 8 years of age: Findings from the Bucharest Early Intervention Project. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, 52(9), 919-928. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7610.2010.02355.x

56 van IJzendoorn, M. H., Juffer, F., & Poelhuis, C. W. K. (2005). Adoption and Cognitive Development: A Meta-Analytic Comparison of Adopted and Nonadopted Children's IQ and School Performance.Psychological Bulletin, 131(2), 301-316. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.131.2.301

57 Miller, L. C., Chan, W., Litvinova, A., Rubin, A., Tirella, L., & Cermak, S. (2007). Medical diagnoses and growth of children residing in Russian orphanages. Acta paediatrica (Oslo, Norway : 1992), 96(12), 1765

58 Boersma, B., & Wit, J. M. (1997). Catch-up growth. Endocrine Reviews, 18(5), 646 59 Sonuga-Barke, E. J., Schlotz, W., & Rutter, M. (2010). VII. Physical growth and maturation following early severe institutional deprivation: Do they mediate specific psychopathological effects? Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development, 75(1), 143-166. doi:10.1111/j.1540-5834.2010.00554.x

60 van Ijzendoorn, M. H., Bakermans-Kranenburg, M. J., & Juffer, F. (2007). Plasticity of growth in height, weight, and head circumference: Meta-analytic evidence of massive catch-up after international adoption. Journal of developmental and behavioral pediatrics: JDBP, 28(4), 334 61 Smyke, A. T., Zeanah, C. H., Fox, N. A., Nelson, C. A., & Guthrie, D. (2010). Placement in foster care enhances quality of attachment among young institutionalized children. Child Development, 81(1), 212-223. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8624.2009.01390.x 10.1111/j.1467-8624.2009.01390.x.

62 van den Dries, L., Juffer, F., van IJzendoorn, M. H., & Bakermans-Kranenburg, M. J. (2009). Fostering security? A meta-analysis of attachment in adopted children. Children and Youth Services Review, 31(3), 410-421. doi:10.1016/j.childyouth.2008.09.008.

63 van den Dries, L., Juffer, F., van IJzendoorn, M. H., & Bakermans-Kranenburg, M. J. (2009). Fostering security? A meta-analysis of attachment in adopted children. Children and Youth Services Review, 31(3), 410-421. doi:10.1016/j.childyouth.2008.09.008.

64 van IJzendoorn, M. H., Juffer, F., & Poelhuis, C. W. K. (2005). Adoption and Cognitive Development: A Meta-Analytic Comparison of Adopted and Nonadopted Children's IQ and School Performance.Psychological Bulletin, 131(2), 301-316. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.131.2.301

65 Harvard Center on the Developing Child. (2017). Brain architecture. Retreived from https:// developingchild.harvard.edu/science/key-concepts/brain-architecture/

66 Peake, S. (2015). Caregiving in the aftermath of early adversity: A neuroscience informed approach. Retrieved from https://cafo.org/resource/caregiving-aftermath-early-adversity-neuroscience-informed-approach/

67 Purvis, K. B., Cross, D. R., Dansereau, D. F., & Parris, S. R. (2013). Trust-Based Relational Intervention (TBRI): A Systemic Approach to Complex Developmental Trauma. Child & Youth Services, 34(4), 360–386. http://doi.org/10.1080/0145935X.2013.859906

68 Perry, B.D. (1999) Helping traumatized children: A brief overview for caregivers. CTA Parent and Caregiver Education Series Volume,1(5), Child Trauma Academy Press

69 Christian Alliance for Orphans (2014) What neuroscience & social science tell us about the effect of care environments on children. Retrieved from https://cafo.org/resource/neuroscience-social-science-tell-us-effect-care-environments-children-2/

70 Katzenstein, J.M., Le Jeune, B.C., & Johnson, K.E. (2016) The role of parenting and family factors in the developmental catch-up for children adopted internationally. Adoption Quarterly, 19(3), 224-236. DOI: 10.1080/10926755.2016.1201710

71 Purvis, K. B., Cross, D. R., & Sunshine, W. L. (2007). The connected child: Bring hope and healing to your adoptive family. New York: McGraw-Hill.

72 Ijzendoorn, M. H., & Juffer, F. (2006). The Emanuel Miller memorial lecture 2006: adoption as intervention. Meta-analytic evidence for massive catch-up and plasticity in physical, socioemotional, and cognitive development. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry,47(12), 1228-1245. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7610.2006.01675.x

73 Christian Alliance for Orphans (2014) Attachment in the context of severe deprivation: Risk and recovery. Retrieved from https://cafo.org/resource/attachment-context-severedeprivation-risk-recovery/

74 Plummer, D. M., & Harper, A. (2007). Helping children to cope with change stress and anxiety: A photocopiable activities book. London, UK: Jessica Kingsley.

75 British Association of Early Childhood Education (n.d.) Helping children cope with change. Retrieved from https://www.early-education.org.uk/sites/default/files/Helping%20 children%20cope%20with%20change.pdf

76 Therapeutic Parenting. (2017). Retrieved from https://www.attachmenttraumanetwork. org/understanding-attachment/therapeutic-parenting/ 77 Hassinger-Das, B., Hirsh-Pasek, K., & Michnick Golinkoff, R. (2017) The case of brain science and guided play: A developing story Young Children 72(2)

78 Gillespe, L. (July, 2016) It's never "Just play"!. Young Children, p. 92-94

79 Malchiodi, C. A., & Crenshaw, D. A. (2014). Creative arts and play therapy for attachment problems. New York: Guilford.

80 Brauser, D. (2014.). Reducing Kids' Stress Simple as ABC. Retrieved, from http://www. medscape.com/viewarticle/835971

81 Harvard Center on the Developing Child. (2017) Serve and return. Retrieved from https:// developingchild.harvard.edu/science/key-concepts/serve-and-return/

82 Christian Alliance for Orphans (2015). Letting children take the lead. Retrieved fromhttps:// cafo.org/resource/letting-children-take-lead/

83 Regents of the University of Minnesota. (2015). Positive discipline: A guide for parents. Minneapolis, MN: Childrens Hospitals and Clinics.

84 Harvard Center on the Developing Child. (2017). Brain architecture. Retreived from https:// developingchild.harvard.edu/science/key-concepts/brain-architecture/

85 Harvard Center on the Developing Child. (2017). Executive function. Retreived from https:// developingchild.harvard.edu/science/key-concepts/executive-function/

86 Child Mind Institute. (2018). How can we help kids with self-regulation? Retrieved from: https://childmind.org/article/can-help-kids-self-regulation/

87 Children's Anxiety Institute. (n.d.) Anxiety in Children and NLP: Can Neuro-Linguistic Programming Help Your Child Overcome Anxiety? Retrieved from: http://childrenwithanxiety. com/anxiety-in-children-and-nlp-can-neuro-linguistic-programming-help-your-childovercome-anxiety.html

88 Davidson, R. J., & McEwen, B. S. (2012). Social influences on neuroplasticity: Stress and interventions to promote well-being. Nature Neuroscience, 15(5), 689–695. http://doi.org/10.1038/nn.3093

89 Singh, N. N., Lancioni, G. E., Winton, A. S., Singh, J., Curtis, W. J., Wahler, R. G., & Mcaleavey, K. M. (2007). Mindful parenting decreases aggression and increases social behavior in children with developmental disabilities. Behavior Modification, 31(6), 749-771. doi:10.1177/0145445507300924

90 Center on the Developing Child at Harvard University. (2013, May 14). Building adult capabilities to improve child outcomes: A theory of change. Retrieved from: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=urU-a_FsS5Y

91 McMahon, D. (2018). Self-care: Barriers and basics for foster/adoptive parents. Retrieved from: https://nacac.org/resource/self-care-barriers-adoptive-parents/

92 Conrad, D. (n.d.). Secondary Trauma: Understanding its impact and taking steps to protect yourself. PsycEXTRA Dataset. doi:10.1037/e549832013-134

93 Harvard Center on the Developing Child. (2017). Resilience. Retrieved from: https:// developingchild.harvard.edu/science/key-concepts/resilience/

94 Fostering Resilience. (n.d.) The 7 Cs: The essential building blocks of resilience. Retrieved from: http://www.fosteringresilience.com/7cs.php

95 Yeager, D.S. & Dweck, C.S. (2012) Mindsets that promote resilience: When students believe that personal characteristics can be developed, educational psychologist, 47:4, 302-314, DOI: 10.1080/00461520.2012.722805

The Changing Brain: Created to Heal Hope for Vulnerable Children and Their Caregivers

by Nicole Wilke, Meredith Morgan, and Alisha Pangborn

CAFO | **OVC** research

cafo.org/ovo